THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 19 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001719

Margaret A. Eberly and Barbara J. Pavelik, ..... Plaintiffs,  
v.

Advanced Flooring & Design Division of ISI, LLC; Archer Exteriors, Inc.;  
Crossroads Enterprises, LLC; D.R. Horton, Inc.; East Coast Construction  
Cleanup Corp.; Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.; Lather Construction SC, Inc.;  
Lather Construction, Inc.; Professional Drywall & Paint Services, LLC;  
Professional Exteriors II, LLC; and Valim Construction, LLC, ..... Defendants,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. CAN A LAWYER RELY ON AN OFFICIAL COMMUNICATION FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS THROUGH THE SC COURTS E-FILING SYSTEM, SENT TO ALL REGISTERED COUNSEL IN A CASE, THAT IT HAS SERVED A NOTICE OF APPEAL ON ALL OF THEM?
2. MAY A NOTICE OF APPEAL BE SERVED THROUGH THE SC COURTS E-FILING SYSTEM?
3. MAY A LAWYER CORRECT A SCRIVENER'S ERROR IN HIS NOTICE OF APPEAL THAT MISIDENTIFIES THE RESPONDENTS BUT CORRECTLY IDENTIFIES THE ORDERS UNDER APPEAL?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying case was initiated by the purchasers of a new home who were dissatisfied with its construction. Suit was filed against the Petitioner developer D.R. Horton, Inc., and various contractors, including Respondent contractors Hutton's Landscapes, Inc., Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction SC, Inc. The Petitioner crossclaimed against the Respondent contractors on contractual indemnities and duties to defend. Those Respondents moved for summary judgment on the crossclaims. On March 11, 2022, the circuit court granted those motions for summary judgment for two of the respondents, Hutton's Landscapes, Inc. and Lather Construction, Inc. in a Form 4 Order. (A. pp. 1-3) Petitioner filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on March 18, 2022. (A. pp. 4-6) The circuit court denied the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on April 11, 2022. (A. pp. 7-9)

Petitioner's counsel Jason Imhoff filed and served a Notice of Appeal with Orders on April 11, 2022. (A. pp. 10-19) It was filed within the 30-day required window. Petitioner received from the court a Certificate of Electronic Notification listing the attorneys who had been electronically served the Notice of Appeal on April 11, 2022, which included Respondents' attorneys. (A. pp. 20-22) All counsel were served by the Court of Common Pleas through the SC Courts E-Filing System.

The Court informed all counsel that they had been served electronically and that no one needed to be served by mail or hand delivery. (A. pp. 20-22)

On April 28, 2022, after discovering a scrivener's error concerning the identities of the Respondents, Mr. Imhoff sent an email to the court regarding the scrivener's error (A. p. 23) and filed an Amended Notice of Appeal with Orders, which corrected the error. by U. S. Mail. (A. pp. 24-36).<sup>1</sup> Both the original Notice of Appeal with Orders and the Amended Notice of Appeal with Orders correctly identified the Orders being appealed and identified the Respondents Hutton's Landscapes, Inc. and Lather Construction, Inc. as the prevailing parties on those Orders. They were also listed as defendants in the original Notice of Appeal and served electronically. (A. p. 10; pp. 20-22)

On May 11, 2022, Respondent Hutton's Landscapes, Inc filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (A. pp. 37-76) On May 12, 2022, Respondents Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction, SC, Inc. filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (A. pp. 77-114) Petitioner filed a Response in Opposition to the Motions to Dismiss on May 23, 2022. (A. pp. 115-149) Respondent Hutton's Landscapes, Inc. filed a Reply to Petitioner's Response in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss Appeal on May 31, 2022. (A. pp. 150-160) Respondents Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction, SC, Inc. filed a Reply to Petitioner's Response in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss Appeal on May 31, 2022. (A. pp. 161-173)

On July 21, 2022, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. (A. pp. 174-175) Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing on August 2, 2022. (A. pp. 176-194) Respondents Lather

<sup>1</sup> The appeal does not involve the plaintiff homeowners. It also does not involve Lather Construction SC, Inc. Out of an abundance of caution, it was included when the respondents' identities were corrected. Lather Construction SC, Inc. is not a proper party to the appeal because the circuit court did not grant its motion for summary judgment. Regarding Lather Construction SC, Inc. there is no order to appeal. Respondent Lather Construction, Inc. acknowledged this in the appeals court and advised that court that it would be addressed in the circuit court.

Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction, SC, Inc. filed a Return to the Petition for Rehearing on October 4, 2022. (A. pp. 195-201) Respondent Hutton’s Landscapes, Inc. filed a Return to the Petition for Rehearing on October 10, 2022. (A. pp. 202-209) The Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing on November 15, 2022. (A. pp. 201-202)

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on December 8, 2022. Respondent Hutton’s Landscapes, Inc filed a Return on January 9, 2023. Respondents Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction SC, Inc. filed a Return on January 10, 2023. Petitioner filed a Reply on January 19, 2023. The Court granted the Petition for Writ of Certiorari on May 23, 2023.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a question of law de novo. *See, e.g., Moody v. Dickinson*, 54 S.C. 526, 32 S.E. 563 (1899) (Court reviewed whether the appeal failed due to a scrivener’s error de novo); *Charlestown Lumber Co. Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 318 S.C. 471, 458 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1995) (Court reviewed whether the appeal failed due to a scrivener’s error de novo).

#### FACTS

On April 11, 2022, 18 days after the circuit court issued its March 24, 2022, order denying Petitioner’s motion to alter or amend, Petitioner’s counsel Jason Imhoff filed and served upon all the attorneys of record a Notice of Appeal correctly identifying the orders on appeal. (A. pp. 10-19) The Notice of Appeal states that Petitioner

Appeals the Order of the Honorable Bentley D. Price granting the Motions for Summary Judgment of Lather Construction and Hutton’s Landscapes, Inc. filed on March 11, 2022 as well as the Order Denying [Petitioner’s] Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment of the Honorable Bentley D. Price dated and filed March 24, 2022. (A. p. 10)

The Notice of Appeal was filed within the 30-day required window. All counsel were served by the Court of Common Pleas through the SC Courts E-Filing System including Lather Construction,

Inc., Hutton's Landscapes, Inc. and Lather Construction SC, Inc. On April 28, 2022, after discovering a scrivener's error concerning the identities of the Respondents, Mr. Imhoff then sent an email to the court regarding the scrivener's error (A. p. 23) and filed an Amended Notice of Appeal with Orders, which corrected the error. It was served by U. S. Mail. (A. pp. 24-36) The scrivener's error left no one misled or prejudiced. And no one has complained otherwise.

As of April 11, 2022, well within the 30-day required window, all counsel were fully informed of the proceedings and served with the Notice of Appeal.

Nonetheless, Respondents filed Motions to Dismiss the appeal on the grounds that the Notice of Appeal was not timely served. On appeal, this case never reached the briefing stage. It was dismissed because the Court of Appeals refused to acknowledge the validity of service by the Court of Common Pleas through the SC Courts E-Filing System. Service of the Notice of Appeal was accomplished by that system within the 30-day requirement of Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. That is clear from the record generated and sent to all counsel by the SC Courts E-Filing System and the Court of Common Pleas. (A. pp. 20-22). There is no dispute about the record and *the foregoing facts are not disputed*.

The Order dismissing the appeal is one paragraph long. (A. pp. 174-75) It cites Rule 262, SCACR, as the basis for dismissal but does not explain why that rule requires dismissal. It does not explain why the official court record in this case--noting sufficient service--is not valid. It does not explain why Rule 4, SCEF--which validates service in this case--does not apply. It offers no explanation as to why it is not following the law stated by the Supreme Court allowing correction of scrivener's errors. *See Moody v. Dickinson*, 54 S.C. 526, 32 S.E. 563 (1899); *Charlestown Lumber Co. Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 318 S.C. 471, 458 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1995). It does not dispute that confusion exists in the application of the electronic service rules and does not explain why it does

not in fairness follow the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in *Wells Fargo v. Fallon, Opinion* 27773, Feb. 28, 2018, and apply its ruling on electronic service only prospectively.

## ARGUMENTS

1. A LAWYER CAN RELY ON AN OFFICIAL COMMUNICATION FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS THROUGH THE SC COURTS E-FILING SYSTEM, SENT TO ALL REGISTERED COUNSEL IN A CASE, THAT IT HAS SERVED A NOTICE OF APPEAL ON ALL OF THEM.

“Civil procedure and appellate rules should not be written or interpreted to create a trap for the unwary lawyer or party.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). That is a hallmark of the fairness that South Carolina Courts strive to follow so that justice is served. But the confusion over the electronic service rules have resulted in a trap for the unwary lawyer and led to dismissal of an appeal that was filed within 18 days of the decision being appealed.

Petitioner’s Notice of Appeal was timely served utilizing the South Carolina Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines (SCEF) promulgated by the South Carolina Supreme Court. Rule 4(e)(2), SCEF, provides “the E-Filing of that pleading, motion or other paper . . . constitutes proper service under Rule 5, SCRCF . . .” Rule 4(e)(3), SCEF, states “Service of a pleading, motion or other paper . . . is complete at the time of the submission of the pleading, motion, or other paper for E-Filing) . . .” The Supreme Court Order in Appellate Case No. 2022-000029, Order No. 2022-05-06-04, dated May 6, 2022, states, “(e) Requirement for Service. In all cases: . . . (4) . . . “Lawyers are reminded that **the E-Filing System automatically serves parties that have appeared in a case, and the Notice of Electronic Filing (NEF) indicates which parties have been served.**” (Emphasis supplied). That Order also states in footnote 1, “The Supreme Court similarly permits service by electronic means in matters governed by the SCACR in accordance with 262(c)(3), SCACR, which

states that, in addition to service by delivery or via U.S. mail, a party may also serve a copy by electronic means in a manner specified by order of the Supreme Court.” Timely service of a notice of appeal is covered by both the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. E.g., Rule 6(b), SCRCPP and Rule 203, SCACR. Petitioner’s Notice of Appeal was timely and properly served under the rules.

Petitioner’s Notice of Appeal was timely served electronically through the SC Courts E-Filing System according to the South Carolina Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines. **“Service Complete Upon E-Filing.** Service of a pleading, motion, or other paper by NEF subsequent to the summons and complaint or other filing initiating a case is complete at the time of the submission of the pleading, motion, or other paper for E-Filing, provided an NEF is transmitted by the E-Filing System in accordance with paragraph (e)(2) of this Section. The Act of E-Filing the pleading, motion or other paper is the equivalent of depositing it in the United States Mail under Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCPP.” Rule 4(e)(3), SCEF **“Scope.** [A]ll filings in all civil cases commenced or pending in any E-Filing county after the effective date of the Pilot Program shall be E-Filed if the party is represented by any attorney.” Rule 2(b), SCEF **“Consent to Electronic Service and Electronic Filing of all Documents.** An Authorized E-Filer consents to E-Service ...” Rule 3(b), SCEF **“Construction.** These Policies and Guidelines shall be liberally construed to ensure substantial justice for all parties, and that cases are disposed of on the merits.” Rule 11(e), SCEF

A Notice of Appeal is unique in that it falls under both the lower courts and appellate courts systems because it is required to be filed in both. Rule 203(d), SCACR. For that reason, the E-Filings policies and guidelines in both systems were available to Petitioner for it. E-filing was in place with the lower court in this case and the Respondents’ attorneys were registered users of the system. E-filing with the lower court on April 11, 2022, was timely and sufficient filing and service.

Petitioner followed the applicable appellate court rule when it filed in the lower court. Rule 203(d), SCACR. Filing with the lower court through that E-filing System then resulted in proper service of the Notice of Appeal.

Petitioner is not suggesting that the lower court E-filing system is generally applicable to appeals. Only the Notice of Appeal falls into both.

In this case, the official court record confirms all counsel were electronically served: **“The following people were served electronically:** Megan Christine White for Hutton’s Landscapes Inc . . . Scott Harris Winograd for Lather Construction Inc, Lather Construction Sc Inc . . .” (A. p. 21) The next page lists “Emily Guifford Lucey for Hutton’s Landscapes Inc, Phillip Paul Cristaldi, III for Lather Construction Inc, Lather Construction Sc Inc, Jeffrey A Ross for Lather Construction Inc, Lather Construction Sc Inc.” (A. p. 22) The first page lists all of them under the heading “Certification of Electronic Notification.” (A. p. 20) If there is anything that South Carolina attorneys should be able to rely upon, it is what the court tells them. In this case, the circuit court told Petitioner’s attorneys that all the attorneys for all the parties in the case were served the notice of appeal on April 11, 2022, electronically through the circuit court’s electronic service system. The electronic service in A. p. 22 also has a section in bold that states: **“The following people have not been served electronically by the Court. Therefore, they must be served by traditional means:”** The list is empty because everyone in the case was in fact served electronically.<sup>2</sup>

Thus, service was made to all attorneys for all parties no later than April 11, 2022 – well before the thirty-day window within which the rules require. They were served electronically at the primary email addresses they provided the circuit court, and each Respondent received electronic service to at least two attorneys of record – Hutton to both attorneys of record (Megan Christine

<sup>2</sup> The Plaintiffs in the case were also served via U.S Mail.

White and Emily Gifford Lucey) and Lather to three attorneys of record (Scott Harris Winograd, Phillip Paul Cristaldi, III, and Jeffrey A. Ross).

Respondents have never denied they were electronically served on April 11, 2022. Although it is clear from their Motions to Dismiss that they did receive the Notice of Appeal, they may have been confused about electronic service. *See Wells Fargo v. Fallon, Opinion 27773*, Feb. 28, 2018 (S.C. Supreme Court acknowledged the confusion that has arisen from electronic communications in the litigation sphere). In this case, the electronic service provisions, put into place due to the pandemic, may have created some confusion about service. Because the attorneys in circuit court cases must keep their primary email address up to date with the circuit court, the circuit court email list has all the parties and their attorneys' emails, and the circuit court service system provides almost instantaneous service to all attorneys of record. Service was perfected on all attorneys of record at their primary email addresses on April 11, 2022. Service via the circuit court system complies with Rule 262, SCACR, because it provides service to each attorney at the primary email address each attorney has provided the court system. Moreover, no Respondent has asserted that the email used by counsel as their primary email in the circuit court's system is not their primary email address – which makes sense because the burden to update one's primary email address is on the attorney whose email address has changed and not the appellant serving a Notice of Appeal. Respondents were served within the 30-day requirement and at each of their primary email addresses. Respondents have not alleged otherwise, nor could they genuinely do so.

The Supreme Court has noted that confusion has arisen regarding the electronic service rules. *See Wells Fargo v. Fallon, Opinion 277773*, Feb. 28, 2018. Accordingly, the Supreme Court has stated that fairness dictates that clarification concerning Rule 203, SCACR, for notices of appeal should be applied only prospectively. *See Id.* Fairness should apply in this case, as well. The SC Courts E-Filing System is both new and complex, even daunting to lawyers raised in a world that

relied solely on paper and manual delivery. One need look no farther than the multiple orders concerning E-Filing and service issued by the Supreme Court in the last 5 years for the truth of that observation. In addition, the Supreme Court has issued order after order during the past 3 years as it fought the pandemic. All of this has created confusion which is only now beginning to abate. These challenges are magnified when the matter involves service at the bridge between the Court of Common Pleas and the Court of Appeals. Disruptions and changes to judicial proceedings, including service and filing, brought about by the pandemic have made these problems even more confusing and worse.

2. A NOTICE OF APPEAL MAY BE SERVED THROUGH THE SC COURTS E-FILING SYSTEM.

This case provides the Supreme Court an opportunity to clarify application of the electronic filing rules to the notice of appeal, which is a unique bridge between two systems: lower court and appellate court, and to do so in a manner that comports with its allegiance to fairness and justice.

Petitioner's understanding of the rules is that they allow for appellants to use the electronic system for filing and service to effectuate an appeal, as Petitioner did in this case and as Petitioner has demonstrated above when the circuit court and appellate court systems meet at service of the notice of appeal. This understanding of the rules is consistent with the goals of using paperless filings and service. Clarification on this matter would benefit the bench and bar as we embark on ever increasing digital means of engaging in the judicial system.

3. A LAWYER IS ALLOWED TO CORRECT A SCRIVENER'S ERROR IN HIS NOTICE OF APPEAL THAT MISIDENTIFIES THE RESPONDENTS BUT CORRECTLY IDENTIFIES THE ORDERS UNDER APPEAL.

An amended Notice of Appeal with Orders was filed. After discovering a scrivener's error in the case style, Petitioner's counsel discussed the issue with the Clerk's office at the Court of Appeals and then filed an Amended Notice of Appeal and Proof of Service on April 28, 2022. (A. pp. 24-36) The Amended Notice of Appeal is identical to the original Notice of Appeal, except that it corrects the case style as to Lather Construction, Inc. and Hutton Landscapes, Inc. and it was served on an attorney for every party in the case via U.S. Mail. As previously, they were also served electronically. Respondents do not dispute that they were served the Amended Notice of Appeal.

In its dismissal of Petitioner's appeal, the Court of Appeals overrode longstanding South Carolina Supreme Court precedent when it refused to allow Petitioner's counsel to correct a scrivener's error in the caption of the Notice of Appeal. The error was misidentifying the respondents. The orders appealed from were correctly described and they were the only orders in the case. No one was misled by the error. Since at least 1899, the South Carolina Supreme Court has allowed such errors to be corrected. *See Moody v. Dickinson*, 54 S.C. 526, 32 S.E. 563 (1899).

In the original notice of appeal, the proper respondents were misidentified. The orders under appeal were properly identified and the Respondents were identified as the prevailing parties, however, and for that reason there could be no mistake about the respondents. Since at least 1899 the Supreme Court has allowed scrivener's errors in notices of appeal to be corrected, including a mistake in the case caption wherein respondents are incorrectly listed. *See Moody v. Dickinson*, 54 S.C. 526, 32 S.E. 563 (1899) (error in title/no prejudice found); *Charlestown Lumber Co. Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 318 S.C. 471, 478, 458 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1995) (failure to identify order appealed from/no prejudice found; also, "Clerical errors in a notice of appeal do not destroy the appeal")

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