**RECEIVED**

**Sep 07 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
THE HONORABLE BENTLEY D. PRICE  
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001719  
CASE NO. 2019-CP-07-02629

---

Margaret A. Eberly and Barbara J. Pavelik,

**PLAINTIFFS,**

versus

Advanced Flooring & Design Division of ISI, LLC;  
Archer Exteriors, Inc.; Crossroads Enterprises, LLC;  
D.R. Horton, Inc.; East Coast Construction Cleanup Corp.;  
Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.; Lather Construction SC, Inc.;  
Lather Construction, Inc.; Professional Drywall & Paint Services, LLC;

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

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals correctly dismissed Petitioner D.R. Horton's appeal against Respondent Hutton's because D.R. Horton failed to properly and timely serve a notice of appeal naming Hutton's as a respondent within the thirty (30) day time period set forth under Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR by a method of service authorized under Rule 262(c), SCACR.**

The proper service of a notice of appeal is critical because without it the appellate court does not obtain jurisdiction over the appeal. After D.R. Horton failed to comply with the unambiguous rules for the timely service of a notice of appeal, the Court of Appeals correctly dismissed the appeal against Hutton's. For the reasons set forth below, this Court should not rescue D.R. Horton for the errors it made in perfecting its appeal against Hutton's and affirm the Court of Appeals' dismissal of the appeal.

The South Carolina Appellate Court Rules mandate that "[a] party intending to appeal must serve and file a notice of appeal and otherwise comply with these Rules." Rule 203(a), SCACR. Rule 203(b)(1) of the Appellate Court Rules requires that "[a] notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment," or "[w]hen a timely motion for judgment n.o.v. (Rule 50, SCRCPP), motion to alter or amend the judgment (Rules 52 and 59, SCRCPP), or a motion for a new trial (Rule 59, SCRCPP) has been made, the time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed and shall run from receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion."

"Service of the notice of appeal is a 'jurisdictional requirement, and th[e] [c]ourt has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served.'" Camp v. Camp, 386 S.C. 571, 574-75, 689 S.E.2d 634, 636 (2010) (quoting Mears v. Mears, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985)). Based upon the circuit court's issuance of its order

denying D.R. Horton's motion to alter or amend judgment on March 24, 2022 and D.R. Horton's receipt of written notice of such order on the same day, any notice of appeal was required to be served upon Hutton's naming it as a respondent no later than April 25, 2022 for the Court of Appeals to have had appellate jurisdiction to consider the appeal.

Service and filing are defined by Rule 262 of the Appellate Court Rules. See Rule 203(a), SCACR. Rule 262(c) provides that service under the Appellate Court Rules is to be made upon the attorney if the party is represented by an attorney and prescribes three methods of service. First, service under Rule 262(c) may be made by delivering a copy of the document upon the attorney by either handing it to the attorney or leaving it at the office of that person with a clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there be no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving a copy at the person's dwelling place or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. See Rule 262(c)(1), SCACR.

Second, service under Rule 262(c) may be made by "depositing a copy in the U.S. mail, properly addressed to the person at that person's last known address with sufficient first class postage attached." See Rule 262(c)(2), SCACR.

Finally, service may be made under Rule 262(c)(3) "by electronic means in a manner provided by order of the Supreme Court of South Carolina." This Court issued an order on August 25, 2021 (No. 2021-08-25-02) (subsequently amended May 6, 2022), which was in effect for the relevant time periods of this appeal, establishing the method for the electronic service of documents in the appellate courts. Paragraph (d)(1) of this August 25, 2021 order provided that "[a] lawyer admitted to practice law in South Carolina may serve a document on another lawyer

admitted to practice law in South Carolina using the lawyer's primary e-mail address listed in the Attorney Information System (AIS). For documents that are served by e-mail, a copy of the sent e-mail shall be enclosed with the proof of service, affidavit of service, or certificate of service for that document."

D.R. Horton's Notice of Appeal filed on April 11, 2022 with the Court of Appeals named only Plaintiffs Margaret A. Eberly and Barbara J. Pavelik as respondents to the appeal. The Notice of Appeal listed the only other counsel of record as the Plaintiffs' attorneys. The Proof of Service to the Notice of Appeal stated that service was accomplished by depositing a copy of the Notice of Appeal in the United States Mail to the Plaintiffs' attorneys, Alexandra S. Williams and Benjamin A.C. Traywick of the Ben Traywick Law Firm, LLC, on April 11, 2022. This Notice of Appeal was not served upon any other attorneys of record in the case via the three methods authorized for service under Rule 262(c). [App. 10-13.]

Therefore, Hutton's was neither named as a respondent to the appeal by D.R. Horton in its Notice of Appeal filed on April 11, 2022, nor was Hutton's served with this Notice of Appeal by either hand delivery, U.S. Mail, or via electronic service as permitted by this Court's August 25, 2021 Order. Counsel for Hutton's was also not served by April 25, 2022, the last day of the thirty (30) day time period for service of the notice of appeal, with any notice of appeal naming it as a respondent pursuant to one of the prescribed methods of service under Rule 262(c).

On April 28, 2022, three days after the expiration of the thirty (30) day time period for service of the notice of appeal, D.R. Horton served an Amended Notice of Appeal upon counsel for Hutton's via U.S. Mail which now named Hutton's, along with Lather Construction SC., Inc. and Lather Construction, Inc., as respondents. [App. 24-28.] In the cover letter to the Court of

Appeals, counsel for D.R. Horton described its failure to initially name Hutton's, Lather Construction SC, Inc., and Lather Construction, Inc. as respondents to the appeal as a "scrivener's error." [App. 29-30.]

D.R. Horton's failure to name Hutton's as a respondent to the appeal and its corresponding failure to serve counsel for Hutton's with a Notice of Appeal naming Hutton's as a respondent within the thirty (30) day time period set forth under Rule 203(b)(1) and pursuant to the methods of service prescribed in Rule 262(c) was not a mere scrivener's error, but rather a failure of D.R. Horton to perfect its appeal against Hutton's in accordance with the requirements of the Appellate Court Rules.

A notice of appeal must be timely served because service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional and therefore, the appellate court cannot extend the time for serving the notice of appeal. See Ex Parte Sadisco of Greenville, Inc. v. Greenville Cty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 340 S.C. 57, 59, 530 S.E.2d 383, 384 (2000) ("This Court has consistently stated that service of the Notice of Appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and [the appellate court] has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the Notice of Appeal must be served."); see also Rule 263(b), SCACR ("The time prescribed by these Rules for performing any act *except the time for serving the notice of appeal* under Rules 203 and 243 may be extended . . . ." (emphasis added)).

The notice of appeal must also be properly served upon the parties because the appellate court also cannot waive procedural defects in serving the notice. The failure of a party to comply with the procedural requirements for perfecting an appeal deprives the court of appellate jurisdiction over the case. Great Games, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 339 S.C. 79, 82 n.5, 529 S.E.2d 6, 7 n.5 (2000); see also State v. Brown, 358 S.C. 382, 387, 596 S.E.2d 39, 41 (2004)

(holding the failure of a party to comply with the procedural requirements for perfecting an appeal from the magistrate's court deprived the circuit court of appellate jurisdiction over the case).

This Court has also held that an appeal against two defendants was required to be dismissed when the two defendants were not served with a notice of appeal naming them as respondents within the thirty (30) day time period prescribed by Rule 203(b)(1). Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 348 S.C. 454, 460-62, 560 S.E.2d 606, 609-10 (2002).

The last day for D.R. Horton to have served the Notice of Appeal upon Hutton's pursuant to the authorized methods for service under Rule 262(c) naming Hutton's as a respondent was April 25, 2022. D.R. Horton did not timely or properly serve a Notice of Appeal naming Hutton's as a respondent until April 28, 2022 – three days too late to confer appellate jurisdiction upon the Court of Appeals. As such, the Court of Appeals “lack[ed] jurisdiction to consider the appeal and ha[d] no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party [here, D.R. Horton] by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004).

The Court of Appeals therefore properly dismissed D.R. Horton's appeal because D.R. Horton did not effectuate proper service of a notice of appeal upon Hutton's within the required thirty (30) day time period for service of a notice of appeal.

The issue involved here is straightforward, and the applicable rules for service of a notice of appeal provided clear guidance to D.R. Horton. Nonetheless, D.R. Horton misrepresents the Appellate Court Rules as “complex,” “daunting,” and steeped in “confusion” to cover for its carelessness in perfecting its appeal.

As appellant, D.R. Horton was required to comply with the procedural requisites of the Appellate Court Rules in perfecting its appeal, as all litigants are expected to do. State v. Burton, 356 S.C. 259, 265, n.5, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9, n.5 (2003). D.R. Horton was responsible for ensuring it had appealed its case properly, something that should not be taken lightly, and as the appellant, it alone controlled what was appealed, who was named in the appeal, and service of the appeal.

It is undisputed that when D.R. Horton filed its original Notice of Appeal on April 11, 2022, it did not name Hutton's as a respondent. It is also undisputed that D.R. Horton did not serve this Notice of Appeal upon Hutton's pursuant to the three methods of service authorized under Rule 262(c), SCACR - either by hand delivery, U.S. Mail, or by an e-mail sent to counsel for Hutton's as permitted under this Court's August 25, 2021 Order (amended May 6, 2022) with a copy of the sent e-mail attached to the proof of service for the Notice of Appeal.

On April 19, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued its initial appeal letter to D.R. Horton via e-mail, which, in providing the caption for the appeal, alerted D.R. Horton to the fact that Hutton's was not a respondent. The Court of Appeals' letter also only copied counsel for the Plaintiffs and did not copy counsel for Hutton's because the Court of Appeals did not consider Hutton's as a respondent to the appeal. [App. 156-158.] Hutton's did not receive any notices from the Court of Appeals during this time regarding any docketing of an appeal against it.

Despite the issuance of the Court of Appeals' initial appeal letter which gave notice to D.R. Horton that Hutton's was not a respondent in the appeal, D.R. Horton took no steps before the thirty (30) day time period for service of the notice of appeal expired on April 25, 2022 to properly add and serve Hutton's as a respondent to the appeal. Nothing prevented D.R. Horton from correcting its own error – an error which if not corrected was fatal to the Court of Appeals'

jurisdiction over Hutton's. Therefore, when D.R. Horton did not correct its error before the thirty (30) day time period for service of the Notice of Appeal expired, the Court of Appeals properly dismissed its appeal.

D.R. Horton does not present any compelling argument warranting reversal of the Court of Appeals' dismissal of its appeal. First, D.R. Horton argues that its Notice of Appeal was timely served under the South Carolina Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines and that the Notice of Electronic Filing [NEF] generated by the Circuit Courts' E-Filing System complied with Paragraph d(1) of this Court's August 25, 2021 Order permitting service of a document by a lawyer upon another lawyer via e-mail. This Court's August 25, 2021 Order contemplates specifically sending the lawyer an e-mail with the document to be served attached and requires that the sent e-mail accompany all proofs, affidavits, or certificates of service.

The NEF, on the other hand, is a notice automatically generated by the Circuit Courts' E-Filing System which merely includes a description of the filed document and does not actually include the document as an attachment. See In re S.C. Elec. Filing Pol'ys & Guidelines, 415 S.C. 1, 2, 780 S.E.2d 600, 600 (2015). Under the rules for E-Filing in the circuit courts, the NEF constitutes proper service under only Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Id. at 7-8, 780 S.E.2d at 603.

D.R. Horton contends that because a notice of appeal is required to be filed in both the circuit court and the appellate court, a unique situation is created whereby it can serve a notice of appeal via the Circuit Courts' E-Filing System without regard to the Appellate Court Rules. While filing in the circuit courts is governed by the South Carolina Electronic Filing Policies and the E-Filing System can be used for filing the notice of appeal with the circuit court, it is only the

Appellate Court Rules which govern the service of a notice of appeal. See Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Props. S.C., LLC, 422 S.C. 211, 215, 810 S.E.2d 856, 858 (2018) (stating that the South Carolina Appellate Rules, rather than the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, govern issues concerning appellate procedure); Rule 73, SCRCP (“Procedure on appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court or the South Carolina Court of Appeals shall be in accordance with the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.”); Rule 203(a), SCACR (“A party intending to appeal must serve and file a notice of appeal and otherwise comply with these Rules. Service and filing are defined by Rule 262.”).

The sole method of electronic service permitted under the Appellate Court Rules is by e-mail. In Order No. 2021-08-25-01 dated August 25, 2021 (Recission of Order Relating to the Operation of the Appellate Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency), this Court stated the following:

**(c) Methods of Electronic Service and Filing.** These methods have proved very beneficial to both the litigants and the Appellate Courts, and Rule 262, SCACR, has been amended to allow this Court to establish electronic methods of service and filing. *By separate order issued today, this Court has specified the permissible methods of electronic service and filing under Rule 262, SCACR.*

Id. (italics added).

In separate Order No. 2021-08-25-02 (August 25, 2021) (Methods of Electronic Filing and Service Under Rule 262 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules), this Court permitted the following sole method of electronic service upon lawyers:

**(d)(1) Service on Another Lawyer.** A lawyer admitted to practice law in South Carolina may serve a document on another lawyer admitted to practice law in South Carolina using the lawyer's primary e-mail address listed in the Attorney Information System (AIS). For documents that are served by e-mail, a copy of the sent e-mail shall be enclosed with the proof of service, affidavit of service, or

certificate of service for that document. Lawyers are reminded of their obligation under Rule 410(g), SCACR, to ensure that their AIS information is current and accurate at all times.

Id.; see also Order No. 2022-05-06-03 (Methods of Electronic Filing and Service Under Rule 262 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules (As Amended May 6, 2022)), Section d(1) (same).

Because service of a notice of appeal is governed by the Appellate Court Rules and this Court's corresponding orders, service on opposing counsel pursuant to the Circuit Courts' E-Filing System's protocols is not effective to confer appellate jurisdiction on the appellate court. The NEF does not constitute proper service for a notice of appeal under the Appellate Court Rules, and there is no order authorizing an NEF automatically generated by the Circuit Courts' E-Filing System to qualify as proper service of a notice of appeal to the appellate courts. Therefore, D.R. Horton cannot rely upon the automatically generated NEF to constitute service of the April 11, 2022 Notice of Appeal upon Hutton's.

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